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liJideof the controversy as does the owner of the property. It mat-
tetsnot that controversies may arise in the case over the priorities
of u'enliJ,or over other minor issues, in which only a part of the par-
ties interested, nor that different defendants in the suit may
have:aeparate and different defenses. These contests are mere inci·
dents to the main suit They do not constitute separable contro-
versies, within the meaning of the act of congress, and separate de·
fenses Q,() not make separable controversies.
In my opinion, congress has not given this court jurisdiction of

this suit,because the cause of action stated in the complaint is
single and indivisible, the respective interests of the plaintiff and
the hardware company range them on opposite sides of the contro-
versy involved in it, that controversy cannot be fully determined
without the presence of both of them, and they are citizens of the
same state. ;Hax v. Caspar, 31 Fed. 499 ; Ayers v. Chicago, 101 U.
S. 184; ·Safe Deposit Co. v. Huntington, 117 U. S. 280, 6 Sup. Ct.
733; Graves v. Corbin, 132 U. S. 571, 588, 10 Sup. Ct. 196; Brown v.
Trousdale, 138 U. S. 389, 396, 11 Sup. Ct. 308; Torrence v. Shedd,
144 U. S. 527, 531, 12 Sup. Ct. 726; Bellaire v. Railroad Co., 146
U. S.. 117, 13 Sup. Ct.16.
The motion to remand must be granted.
For similar reasons, like motions must be granted in Nos. 84, 85,

86, 87, 88,90, 91.

OWEN v. PRESIDIO MINING CO. et ale
(Oircuit Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit. March 13, 1893.)

No. 58.
1. MEXIOAN LAND GRANTS-PROOF OF EXEOUTION.

A grant which would include over 2,000 square miles of land was alleged
to have been made January 25, 1832, by the alcalde of Presidio del Norte,
state of The sole documentary proof thereof was a certified
copy of an alleged testimonio record in Bexar county, Tex., In 1851, show·
ing the original grant, a subsequent act of transfer, and various certifi·
cates... These papers were. of diff.erent dates, not in chronological order,
but all apparently constituting one document. For the purpose of pro-
curing the record to be made, two persons had made affidavit of the genuine-
ness of the signatures, but the terms of one affidavit were unsatisfactory,
and .the lluthors of both were shown to have been dependents of the per·
sons then claiming under the grant. It further appeared that in the inter-

'-. est of those claimants, a forged paper, purporting to be a decree confirm-
ing the grant by the congress of Chihuahua, was surreptitiously introduced
into the. publlcarchives of· Juarez, Mexico. The parol testimony as to
whether such a grant had ever been heard of prior to 1848 was confiicting,
and rise to no inferences favorable to the claimants. Held, that the
evidence was insufiiclent to establish the execution of the gl'ant.

J. SAME-POWERS OF ALCALDE.
The fact of the making of a grant of land by an official of the state of

Chihuahua raises no presumption that he had power to do so, if the grant
was executed atter the adoption of the colonization law of May 25, 1825;
aQd under that law the alcalde of a village had no power, in 1832, to make
grants of the public lands,

8. SAME-DEOREE OF CONFIRMATION-EvIDENOE TO ESTABLISH,
A claimant of lands under an alleged grant by a village alcalde who had

no authol'it;r to make it sought to support the same by showing a decree
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of confirmation by the congress of Chihuahua In 1834, and for this purpose
introduced a paper purporting to be such a decree, but which was entirely
in print, without written signature, seals, rubrics, or other marks of at-
testation. This paper was found in 1890, in the archives of Santa Barbara,
a mining town, 150 miles from the capital of Chihuahua, under circumstan-
ces not calculated to strengthen any presumptions of genuineness. Fur-
ther, it bore an irregular or fraudulent number, and there was no entry on
the proper registry that such a decree had ever been received and filed.
The weight of evidence was that no such decree had ever been heard of in
connection with the alleged grant prior to 1887. It appeared further that
a forged decree of confirmation had at some time been introduced into thlO
archives of Juarez, Mexico. Held, that the genuineness of the document
was not established.

:Appeal from the Circuit Court of the United States for the West-
erll District of Texas.
'1'his is a suit in equity, brought by the complainant, Ernest Dale

Owen, as trustee, a citizen of the state of TIlinois, against the Pre-
sidio Mining Company, a corporation of the state of California, and
against William Noyes, the superintendent of said mining company,
a citizen of Texas, and John L. Bullis, a citizen of the territory of
Arizona, to recover section 8 in block 8 of the survey of the Hous-
ton & Texas Central Railway Company in Presidio county, Tex.,
to quiet the title thereof, and to recover the value of silver ore
ex1racted by the Presidio Mining Company from the mines situated
thereon, and praying for a receiver and an injunction.
The original bill of the complaint, said to have been filed on the 29th day

of January, 1890, does not 3,Ppear in the transcript. By the amended sup-
plemental bill of the 13th of July, 1891, complainant claims title to the land
in controversy by means of certain conveyances from the heirs of Lieut. Col.
Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo under a grant of land alleged to have been made to
him by the alcalde (conciliador) of Presidio del Norte, state of Chihuahua,
Mexico, on the 25th day of January, 1832, for 15 leagues square of land, or
2,345112 square miles, situated on the east bank of the Rio Grande river, and
now in the counties of Jeff Davis, Brewster, and Presidio, in the state of
Texas. .
The bill alleges that in November of the year 1832, Ronquillo petitioned

the governor of the state of Chihuahua to be excused from the performance
of the condition of the grant by reason of being ordered away from the fron-
tier on an excursion against the Indians, and that the same was allowed on
the 12th of November, 1832; that on the 27th of November, 1832, a certificate
was made by the alcalde of Presidio del Norte in pursuance of an order
made by the governor excusing him from the performance of the conditions
of the grant; that the grant was confirmed by the congress of Chihuahua on
the 24th day of September, 1834; that in 1849 the testimonio of the grant
was offered for record in the office of the county clerk in Bexar county, Tex.,
that being the proper place and the proper office for such registration at that
time; that the testimonio was accompanied by the affidavit of one witness,
Cesario Ureta, dated the 17th day of August, 1849, and afterwards an addi-
tional affidavit for proof by one Edward Hall was filed, dated July 10, 1851;
and that on July 11, 1851, the testimonio was recorded in Bexar county;
that in 1850 the grant was surveyed by Richard A. Howard, the official deputy
district surveyor for the district of Bexar; that his survey was certified as
correct by the official surveyor of Bexar district, and this survey was recorded
in the regular surveyor's office of that district, at San Antonio, February 27,
1851; that in 1854, when EI Paso county, Tex., was oI'ganized, the grant was
recorded in the proper records of that county; that the field notes of the
Howard survey were also recorded in EI Paso county in 1854, both in the
recoI'd of deed';! and the surveyor's records, and again recorded in the sur·
veyor's office of Presidio county in October, 1873; that in 1855 the outline



8 li'EDERAL :REPI1RTER. vol. 61.

Gt this grailt'wasmarked on the county map'filed in the general land office
00l ,WeJXa8"and ,there designated as the "Ben Leaton Claim."
'The defendants, in their answer, deny the claim of title set up by the com-
plainant in his b1l1 and amended bill, and say it is not true in fact that any grant
or any portion thereof, was ever made' by the a1calde of Presidio del Norte, or by
the state of Chihuahua, or by any legal authority of the said state, to Jose
Ygnacio Ronqu11lo on the 25th day of January, 1832, or by any other title;
and they deny that the said a1leged grant of the 24th of September, 1834, was
ever ratified or confirmed by the congress of the state of Chihuahua, or by any
other legal authority. Defendants also plead that they are inilOcent pur-
chasers in good faith, and the statutes of limitations of three and five years.
A stipulation in the record admits that the complainant has acquired, by

mesne conveyances, whatever title Lieut. Col. Ronquillo had, unless the same
has been lost by something occurring since the grant; but it is not admitted
that Ronquillo had any title.
The only documentary evidence offered by the complainant in support ot

said grant is the copy of the alleged testimonio from the records of Bexar
county, state of Texas, and the duplicate printed copy of the alleged decree
of confirmation certified from the archives of Santa Barbara, a small mining
town in the state of Chihuahua, Mexico. The genuineness of the alleged
testimonio recorded in Bexar county, Tex., and of the purported printed de-
cree from the archives of Santa Barbara, is denied in the defendants' answer,
and both are impeached as forgeries in the affidavit on file in the cause.
On a hearing in the circuit court upon all the evidence the court reached

the conclusion that the alcalde who executed the grant had no power to exe-
cute the same, and that the same was void; and, further, that the same was
never confirmed by the congress of Chihuahua, and thereupon entered a de-
cree dismissing complainant's bill. !

Beth F. Crews, John Ireland, A. G. Foster, Wm. H. Burges, and
Earnest Dale Owen, for appellant.
Thos. J. Beall, for appellees.
Before PARDEE and McCORl\UCK:, Circuit Judges, and LOCK:E,

Distl'ict Judge.

PARDEE,Circuit Judge (after stating the facts). The first ques-
tion presented in the considerati(;m of this case is, did Cesario Her-
rera, alcalde of Presidio del Norte, make and execute the alleged
grant to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo on the 25th day of January, 1832?
The burden on the complainant to establish such a grant. He

for the purpose no original documentary evidence of any
kind. or description, no record from the alcalde's office, no record,
memorandum of, or reference to, any such grant, from any of the
public archives or other places where such evidence, if the grant
was actually made, should be found, either in the state of Chihuahua
or in 'the republic of Mexico, save and except the printed copy of
the alleged decree of confirmation of the congress of Chihuahua,
found in Santa Barbara, hereafter referred to. The following ad-
mission appears from a stipulation in the record:
'''l1hat complainant has made diligent search among the archives and rec-

ords in the cities of Austin, San Antonio, and El Paso, in the state of Texas,
and in Presidio del Norte (or Ojinaga), Juarez, and In the city of Mexico, in
the republic of Mexico, for the original expediente, protocol, and testimonio
of the grant which complainant claims to have been made to Jose Ygnacio
Ronquillo on the 25th day of January, 1832, by Cesario Herrera, alcalde of
Presidio del Norte, and that these are alI the places where the same might
have been reasonably expected to be found, and the said town of Presidio
del Norte (or Ojinaga) being the place where by law the original expediente
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and protocol of said title was originally required to be 1lled and archived,
and that the same are not among the rp,cords and archives: and that com-
plainant has also inquired of and made dIligent search with all persons where
the same might reasonably be found, and has been unable to find the same;
and that the same, if they ever eXisted, are either lost, destroyed, or cannot
be found. It is not admitted, but denied, by defendants that the same ever
existed."
The parol evidence offered giving the recollection of witnesses

(many of them interested witnesses) as to whether any such grant
was known or heard of prior to 1848 is so fully met by contradictory
evidence of the same nature, offered on the other side, that, after
reading and considering the same, no impression favorable to the
complainant is derived from it. The sole documentary evidence
offered to establish that such a grant was made is the copy of the
record produced from the office of the clerk of the county court of
Bexar county, state of Texas, which shows that on the 16th day of
August, 1849, a paper purporting to be a testimonio of the title
for lands granted in favor of Don Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo on the
25th day of January, 1832; also a public act passed on the 27th
day of November, 1832, bargaining the said grant of lands by Jose
Ygnacio Ronquillo to one Hypolito Acosta; also a certificate on the
10th day of May, 1833, signed by Hypolito Acosta and Juana
Pedrasa, that the said Juana Pedrasa is interested in the lands in
question; and also a certificate by said Cesario Herrera, alcalde,
on the 27th day of November, 1832, to the effect that Don Jose
Ygnacio Ronquillo has complied with all the conditions of law on
the subject, and therefore has the right to sell at his will (all, testi-
monio, transfer, and certificate, though of different dates, appar-
ently forming one document),-was offered for record; and on the
same day one Cesario Ureta made affidavit that he was well ac-
quainted with the signatures of Cesario Herrera, Rafael Hernan-
dez, Hypolito Acosta, and Juana Pedrasa to the annexed instrument
of writing, and knows the same to be genuine and good; and, fur-
ther, that the said persons above named resided out of the limits of
the state of Texas; and afterwards, on July 10, 1851, one Edward
Hall made affidavit that he had transacted business with Cesario
Herrera, Rafael Hernandez, and Hypolito Acosta, and that he had
often seen them sign their names, and that the signatures of Cesario
Herrera, Rafael Hernandez, and Hypolito Acosta, as they appear at
the foot of the annexed instrument of writing, he knew to be genu-
ine and good; and, further, that the said Herrera, Hernandez, and
Acosta were either dead, or out of the limits of the state of Texas;
and thereupon the said document was recorded.
Considering the make-up of the document, and that it purports

to be a record of several transactions, not in chronological order,
and each purporting to be attested by a different set of witnesses, it
is very doubtful whether the affidavits of Ureta and Hall furnished
sufficient proof to warrant the county clerk of Bexar county to re-
cord. the same. The presumption is very strong that the alleged
testimonio is, at best, only a copy of a testimonio. As to the pro-
priety of the record as made, see Pasture Co. v. Preston, 65 Tex.
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454; and as to effect if tecorded without sufficient proof, see Holli-
day v. Cromwell,.26'teJ:. 189; Lambertv. Weir,27 Tex. 359.
The original of this document, although presumably in the cus-

tody of the parties claiming title under it, is neither produced nor
accounted for. As made and proved, this record unquestionably
shows that the complicated document claimed by complainant to be
a testimonio of his title was in existence on the 16th day of Au-
gust, 184:9,-17 years after the date of the alleged grant; but as to
the persons who. made and executed it we are left to the evidence of
Hall andUreta, and as to when it was made we are remitted to the
document itself. The affidavit of Ureta is to the effect that he was
well acquainted with the signatures, among others, of Cesario Her-
reraand Rafael Hernandez, two of the persons whose names pur-
ported to be signed tothree of the separate acts contained in the
documen.t;and he swore that he knew the same to be genuine
and without giving in any manner his means for so knowing,
and withOut specifying which particular signatures of Herrera and
Hernandez were genuine and good. If any credit is to be given to
his affidavit, it is to be taken that he meant that all of the signa-
tures of Oesario Herrera and Rafael ,Hernandez were genuine and
good. 'The affidavit ofUreta, however, does not appear to have been
sufficient in terms to satisfy the clerk. of the county court of Bexar
county of· the genuineness of the document.
The affidavit of Hall. is more full as to his knowledge, and he says

that he'''has transacted btisiness with Cesario Herrera, Rafael Her-
and Hypolito Acosta; that he has often seen them sign

their names; and that the signatures of Cesario Herrera, Rafael
Hernandez, and· Hypolito Acosta, as they appear at the foot of the
annexed instrument in writing, he knows to be genuine and good."
The names of Cesario Herrera, Hypolito Acosta, and Rafael Hernan-
dez appeal', among others, at the end of the alleged grant, and at
the end of the alleged transfer or act of sale from Jose Ygnacio Ron-
quillo to Hypolito Acosta. Which signatures of said Herrera, Her-
nandez, and Acosta affiant Hall knew to be genuine and good does
not appear.
In the case of Luco v. U. S., 23 How. 515, it was held that no

Mexican grant in the state of California should be considered gen-
uine unless documentary evidence thereof should be found in the
archives; and in Peralta v. U. S., 3 Wall. 434, it is held that record
evidence of a grant must be shown and be produced or ·accounted
for, and mere parol evidence will not suffice to establish it. The
document recorded in Bexar county came from the possession of, and
was undoubtedly recorded in the interest of, Ben Leaton and Juana
PC'drasa,with whom said Leaton is shown to have been living at the
time the same was presented for record. Both Ureta and Hall were
employes and dependents.of Leaton; and Hall, after Leaton's death,
married Juana Pedrasa. It also appears that the only trace of the
grant in the general land office of the state of Texas is an old map
found there, marked "Ben Leaton's Claim." The evidence also
shows that Ben Leaton and Cesario Herrera were acquainted, if
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not intimate; that Leaton borrowed $500 to buy land, and that Her·
rera was arrested by the Mexican authorities for issuing false titles
to land; and there is some evidence which, if believed, shows that
Herrera was contemplating the forging of this very document. It
is admitted that in the Leaton interest,-that is, the Juana Pe-
drasa interest,-under which, so far as it is good, complainant
claims (and it would seem to cover the entire title, if the document
under consideration is taken as genuine), a forged and false decree,
purporting to be a confirmation of the grant and transfer by the
congress of Chihuahua, was surreptitiously introduced and placed
in the public archives of Juarez, in the state of Mexico, which forged
and false decree of confirmation was the basis of the title claimed
by complainant in his original bill in this case.
The supreme court of the Un'ited States, in passing on a grant

alleged to have been made by the governor of California,
said:
"The signatures of M. G. Vallejo to the permit of occupation, l\nd of Michel-

torena and F. C. Arce, the governor and acting secretary, are genuine. if three
witnesses are to be believed,-eastenada, W. D. M. Howard, and Salvador
Vallejo, one of the original grantees. - -, - We have said that the signa-
tures of the officers to the doetImentary evidence of the title are genuine if
we can believe the witnesses Castenada, Howard, and Vallejo; but, as all
of these officials were living after the United States had taken possession
of the country during the war, and even after the cession by Mexico, and,
with the exception of the governor. resided in California, these signatures
may be genuine, and still the title Invalid. It was practicable to have made
the grant in form genUine, but antedated." U. S. v. Teschmaker, 22 How.
402-404. See, also, Fuentes v. U. S., Id. 454.

Enough has been said to show that we have been unable to find
affirmatively from the evidence in this case that on the 25th day of
January, 1832, Cesario Herrera, alcalde of Presidio del Norte, exe-
cuted the alleged grant to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo. As to the execu-
tion of such a grant, the complainant has failed to establish his case,
unless he has established that the congress of Chihuahua, in 1834, by
decree for the purpose, ratified and confirmed the said grant, which
matter will be considered in its order.
If we ussume for the purposes of the case that Cesario Herrera,

alcalde of Presidio del Norte, on the 25th day of January, 1832, actu-
ally made and executed to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo the grant in ques-
tion, the next inquiry is whether said Cesario Herrera, alcalde, had
the power to make such a grant. An alcalde is "a justice of the
peace or judge who administers justice in a town, the presiding officer
of a town council." 1 Sayles' Early Laws of Texas, p. 13. At first
impression a person at this day is struck with astonishment at a
claim of power on the part of an alcalde of a provincial town to make
an absolute grant of the public lands to the extent of 15 leagues
square, 20 times the area that could be included in a grant under the
national and state colonization laws in force at the time, a tract com-
prising as much territory as is included in the states of Rhode Island
and Delaware; in fact, a tract of land equal in, area to a strip one
mile wide, reaching from the city of New Orleans to the city of San
Francisco. Land at that time may have been plenty, and next to
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wol."tbl:eS$j ana. people may' have been. very scarce, but then why the
rw.tJ,Q1,\a},;tndatate colonization laws limiting grants?
,'1'be,e0Atplainant contendsjwith regard to this power on the part of

the that,it is to be presumed from the fact that he exercised
tbatthe burden of prooftosho'W that he had no such power 'is on

the defendants; and that, in fact, the alcalde had such power under
the positive provisions of the laws of Chihuahua, referring particularly
to a decree (No. G5) alleged to have been passed by the congress of

on August 5, 1825, quoted in complainant's brief as fol-
lows:

''Decree No. 65.
"Relating to the Abolishment of Sub-Delegates.

"The Honorable Constitutional Congress, etc., etc. First The jUdges with
the appointment of sub-delegateE' are hereby abolished, as in the system that
g\>vel'ns such appointments are unknown. Second. Their faculties shall
be resumed by the constitutional alcaldes ('alcaldes de primera denominacion'),
and in those towns where there is only one alcalde, they will also have judi·
cial jurisdictlon"as prescribed in former depositions, until the constitution
establisM'S It :fixed, rule regarding the office.
"Be it by the Governor of the State," etc.

Complainant also cites Hall's Mexican Law, p. 7, as follows:, . .

"'Alcaldes, J;llayores and corregidores had, prior to the date of the Ordinance
of, Intendencias, December 4, 1786, and for nearly three centuries exercised
the, functions of magistrates Qf their respective partidos (districts), with po-
litical powers also. They acted as governors. In the matter of the sale and
composition of land and water they were usually made sub-delegates."

In support of the presumption arising from the fact of an officer's
making the grant that he has authority of law to do so, compla:inant
c'ites authorities from the reports bf the supreme court of the United
States and of the supreme court of Texas, which, in the main, sustain
his, contention. U. S. v. Peralta, 19 How. 343; Gonzales v. Ross, 120
U. S. 605, 7 Sup. Ct. 705; Bryan v. Shirley, 53 Tex. 440; Blythe v.
Houston, 46 'rex. 76; Jenkins v. Chambers, 9 Tex. 167; Jones v. Garza,
11 Tex. 186; Hancock v. McKinney, 7 Tex. 384. Probably the cor·
rectrule with regard to the presumption of authority in favor of an
officer making a grant is that such authority is presumed where the
docunwntary evidence of the grant comes from the proper archives,
or.where the genuineness is not in question. See U. S. v. Peralta,
supra.
The defendants, in reply, admit that under the royal decrees of

Spain, where persons in authority issued grants, the power was pre·
sumed from the existence of the grant itself, but with regard to Mexi·
can' grants a different rule obtained after the passage of the national
colonization laws of August, 1824, and the regulations of 1828, and
in the state of Chihuahua, of the colonization law of the 25th day of
May, 1825, which was 'in strict conformity with the general laws of
colonization of the republic of Mexico. That in the early cases in
the supreme court of the United States (referring to U. S. v. Clarke,
8 Pet. 436) it is held that the power is to be presumed from the exist·
ence of the grant itself, but in all the later cases since the passage
of the laws above mentioned it has been uniformly decided that no
presumption can be indulged as to the existence of the power to make
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the grant, but it must be conferred by the law, and be exercised in
conformity with its terms. Referring to U. S. v. Cambuston, 20 How.
59; U. S. v. Vallejo, 1 Black, 541.
There can be no doubt that the rule claimed by defendants is recog-

nized by the supreme court in all cases of grants claimed in Califor-
nia. U. So v. Sutter, 21 How. 170; U. S. v. Hartnell, 22 How. 286; U.
S. v. Vallejo, 1 Black, 541; U. S. v. Cambuston, 20 How. 59; U. S. v.
Workman, 1 Wall. 745; Fuentes v. U. S., 22 How. 443.
It is said, however, that while California was a territory, and sub-

ject to the national colonization laws, the state of Chihuahua was a
free and 'independent state, and owned and controlled its own public
lands; the national laws not being applicable. It is to be noticed,
however, that in 1825 the state of Chihuahua itself passed a law in
strict conformity with the national colonization law. We therefore
are unable to see why, subsequent to the 26th day of May, 1825, a dif-
ferent rule should prevail in the state of Chihuahua from that con-
ceded to prevail in the territory of California with regard to the
method and manner of disposing of public lands. On this question
the learned judge of the circuit court said:
"In my judgment, if I follow the decisions of the supreme court of the

United States, and if those decisions mean what they say, the alcalde had
no power to make such concession at that date. In 1824, when Mexico threw
Qff the Spanish yoke, and erected her own government, an entirely different
system of distributing public lands was inaugurated, and under that system,
and under the colonization law of 1825 of the state of Chihuahua, the alcalde
had absolutely no authority to execute such a grant; not only a grant of
1,500,000 acres, but he was without authority to execute an ll-league grant.
Therefore, ll-pon its face, the grant is a nullity."
We agree with the judge in this eonclusion.
The next and main question in the case is whether the Ronquillo

grant, alleged to have been made by Cesario Herrera January 25,
1832, was ratified and confirmed by the congress of the state of
·Chihuahua, September 24, 1834. Such a decree of ratification and
confirmation would tend to show that Cesario Herrera, alcalde,
made and executed the grant at the time alleged, and would elimi·
nate from the case all question as to his power as alcalde to make
and execute such a grant. It appears that in the complainant's
original bill he set up and asserted a decree of confirmation to the
Ronquillo grant, passed by the congress of Chihuahua on the 24th
day of September, 1R34, in substance as follows:
"The constitutional congress of the state of Chihuahua has deemed it proper

to ratify and confirm the action of St'. Cesario Herrera, alcalde of Presidio
del Norte, on the 27th day of November, 1832, granting to Sr. Don Jose
Ygnacio Ronquillo, lieutenant colonel of the active army, for distinguished
military services, certain lands, pastures, and minerals situated on the lett
bank of the Rio Bravo del Norte, in front of Presidio del Norte."
This decree was assailed by the defendants as a forgery, and is

now by both parties so admitted. In relation to this forged decree,
the complainant, in his amended bill, after asserting that the grant
was in all things duly ratified and confirmed by the congress of
Ohihuahua, says:
"Your orator further saJ's that in their answer to the bill heretofore filed

,in this cause the defendants aver, on information and belief. that th",." "Wa"
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no confirmationdfthe JrlUlt iby the congl'(!lilS of Chihuahua, as herein here-
tofore alleged, but 1;llat A, pretended circular letter, pretending to be A decree
of such congress, confirnihig and ratifying. the action of the senor alcalde at
Presidi!> del Norte onthe.27th day of November, 1832, in this blll heretofore
described, as in thearchi'Ves at Juarez, Mexico, and that the same is a
forgery, and has been surreptitiously inserted and placed among said archives
at Juarez. Your orator says that he has seen and inspected the paper so
referred to by in their said answer, and that he is convinced and
says the same is a forgery, and not a true archive at said Juarez. Your orator
further says that long before the purchase or negotiation for any interest
in said property by this complainant orllis immediate grantors, and long
before.your orator or his Immediate grantors knew anything of this
property or its title, some one interested as by or through the heirs at law of
one Ben Leaton and Juana Pedrasa y Leaton, his wife, surreptitiously ab-
stracted ·from the archives of Juarez, Mexico, the true and genuine con-
firmation, previously one of tlle archives at. that place, and, for the purpose
of addinga-supposed strength to the title at that time claimed by such heirs,
forged a pretended decree somewhat differing from the real and genuine
decree aforesaid in its wordin,g, and surreptitiously put such forged and
pretended decree into the stead and place of the former and genuine decree
among such archives. T1:\at such paper Is not now one of the archives at
Juarez, but has been taken therefrom, and referred to one of the judges under
the MexiCan system of laws, to inquire into its genuineness, and your orator
is not informed as to the result of such jUdicial inquiry; but that your orator
makes no pretense that such pretended decree is genuine, and claims no
manner of benefit or advantage of the same, but declares it is his opinion that
it is A forgery, but that the confirmation referred to in your orator's blll is
not A confirmation of the action of the alcalde done on the 27th day of No-
vember, 1882, but of,the grant itself, made on the 25th day of January, 1832,
and is not, therefore, the forged paper referred to in the defendants' said
answer."
To this matter defendants answer:
"These defendants aver that they are not advised as to the person or per-

sons who forged the circular letter pretending to be a decree of the congress
of Ohihuahua, confirming and ratifying the action of the senor alcalde at
Presidio del Norte on the 27th day of November, 1832, in this answer here-
tofore described, and thereafter deposited in the archives at Juarez, Mexico;
and therefore neither admit nor deny that the same was done by some per-
son interested as by or through the heirs at law of one Ben Leaton and Juana
Pedrasa y Leaton, his wife; but these defendants deny that any true and
genuine confirmatiOOl, previously one of such archives at that place, was taken
therefrom" and said pretended circular letter deposited in its place, as com-
plainant in his said amended supplemental bill has alleged. And these de-
fendants deny that any such paper confirming or ratifying said grant, pur-
porting to have been made on the 25th day of January, 1832, or at any other
time, was ,ever deposited or archived at Juarez, Mexico, or, if any such
circular letter or decree confirming or ratifying said grant was ever archived
at said place or elsewhere, then these defendants are Informed and believe
and so charge the same to be a forgery; and these defendants, for a greater
certainty, crave leave to to said pretended executive decree confirming
said grant, as alleged In said complainant's amended supplemental bill, when
the same shall be produced. ,And these defendants further aver that the
said pretended circular letter, or executive decree, ratifying or confirming
said grant to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, was never authenticated, or proved for
record, and was never duly recorded in any county in Texas, wherein said
land is Qll was situated,"
To prove the decree of confirmation by the congress of Chihuahua,

alleged in the amended hill, the complainant produces the printed
document, without written signature or marks, without seal or-
rubrics, or any other marks of attestation,found in duplicate in the
a.rchives of Santa Barbara, a mining town, about 250 miles from
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the capital of the state of Chihuahua, and,-so far as the evidence
goes, found nowhere else in the archives of the state of Chihuahua,
nor elsewhere in the republic of Mexico. The stipulation as to
search for documents does not cover a search for evidence of a
decree of confirmation, but it is a fair inference that, if complainant
made search for in every proper place, and made inquiry of every
person likely to know about the protocol, expediente, and testimonio
of the grant, no existing evidence of a genuine decree of confirma-
tion would have been overlooked. No proof is offered in the case
tending to show that in the archives or records of the congress of
Chihuahua there is any mention of the Ronquillo grant by way of
memorandum, petition, letter, expediente, protocol, resolution, or
decree. There is no evidence showing or tending to show that -Don
Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo himself ever had any knowledge or notice
of any decree of confirmation. It does not appear that his widow,
who survived him many years, ever heard of any such decree of con·
firmation. There is no proof tending to show that prior to the year
1887 the heirs of any Ronquillo, or any person or persons claiming
title to the grant in question, ever made any claim, or pretense even,
of a decree of confirmation. If the document recorded in Bexar
county in 1851 is taken to be a genuine document, then it is clear
that Ronquillo, in November, 1832, transferred the grant to Hypolito
Acosta, who in turn transferred it to Juana Pedrasa. The decree
of ratification was not annexed to the document so recorded.
In short, the weight of evidence in this case practically shows

that a decree of confirmation was never heard of in connection with
. the Ronquillo grant prior to 1887, 53 years after the time in which
it is now alleged that such decree was passed.
There is some evidence on the part of the complainant found

the testimony of Mr. Provencio, Mr. Siejas, and T. T. Teel to the
effect that a genuine decree ratifying the grant of January 25,1832,
was on the files at Juarez some time during and after the year 1887.
The evidence is offered in support of the theory of the complainant
that a genuine decree was in the archives at Juarez, but in the in-
terest of the Ben Leaton heirs it was surreptitiously removed, and
a forged decree inserted in its place. The circuit judge analyzed
this evidence, and reached the conclusion that what these witnesses
then saw was the forged, and not any genuine, decree; and we
agree with the reasoning and conclusion. That a forged decree
was placed in the archives at Juarez is undoubtedly true, but it
is hardly credible that any person claiming an interest under a
doubtful Mexican grant, and having a genuine decree from the con-
gress of the state of Chihuahua confirming the grant, would remove
the genuine decree, and insert a forged one. That such a genuine
decree was so removed is further negatived, almost conclusively,
by the fact established by the defendants, that the genuine decree,
corresponding to the number and date of the alleged decree of con·
firmation, which was on the files in its proper order, was a decree
relating to public affairs of minor importance, not at all likely to
be inquired or looked for after a period of 50 years.
The finding of the Santa Barbara decree in the nick of time is
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seemingly as to be also suspicious. It appears that
about the spring of 1887, one' T. T. Teel, an attorney at law of San
.Antonio, Tex., learned of the record of the alleged testimonio, and,
soon thereafter finding Isabella Shirley, surviving heir of Ben
Leaton, and securing an agreement to divide recovery, in October,
1889, brought suit for the land. Thereupon one E. N.Ronquillo
.appeared and set up title to the property as heir at law of Jose
Ygnacio Ronquillo, to whom the land was granted. The record
shows that he was the son of another Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, who
died in 1860, but in no wise connected with the Jose Ygnacio Ron-
quillo to whom the grant is alleged to have been made, and who
died in 1834. The record also shows that Teel had E. N. Ronquillo
arrested for asserting a fraudulent claim, and such it seems to be
from ,the evidence of both complainant and defendants in this case.
As said by counsel for defendants: "He must have started out
to acquire the land as heir at law of Ronquillo on the principle of
idem sonans." The arrest of Ronquillo appears to have amounted
to nothing more than to bring about a compromise or adjustment
between the contending claimants by which the interest of Teel
. and 'of E. No Ronquillo seem to be fully protected for all they are
worth, each retaining an interest in the recovery in this case. There-
afterE. N. Ronquillo appears to have been employed by the com-
plainant, who, it seems, had acquired the interests of all the claim-
ants, to assist in finding evidence, and he testifies, as taken from the
complainant's abstract of evidence:
"I have spent considerable time and money traveling to different points in

Ohihuahua to search archives amI records, but not much for witnesses. Went
as interpreter to Presidio del Norte with Mr. Owen. Went to Chihuahua and
Santa lJarbara to search records. Went to Santa Barbara with Mr. Foster
in October, 1890. De Ill, Garza, at Chihuahua. told us there were important
records at EI Valle. Foster telegraphed Owen to that effect, and received
answer to go at once there. At EI Valle we found nothing, but the priest
and. Jefe Politico there told us the most complete set of records in that neigh-
borhood were.at Santa Barbara, it being out of the way of revolutions, and
its records not being burned. At Santa Barbara we applied to search records,
and, after considerable diSCUSsion, permission was given by ayuntamiento
for the secretary to search for us. He did so in our presence and found Con,
firmatlon No. 16, dated September 24, 1834, in duplicate. We obtained a cer-
tified copy, and also one of the duplicates, which we brought to complainant.
Santa Barbara is It small mining town, about 250 miles from the city of
Chihuahua. It is not the capital of any state at present, but was formerly
capital of the state that is now Chihuahua."

Inez Franco, secretary of the municipality of Santa Barbara,
testifies:" .
"That ,E. N. Ronquillo and Mr. Foster, from EI Paso, Texas, came to Santa

Barbara twice In ,search for a decree of confirmation of the Ronquillo grant;
the first time in October, 1890, and the second time in November, 1890. The
fLrst search was made in October, 1890, at which were present Juan Pablo
Baca, then president of the ayuntamiento, Jose Mesa, third regidor, E. N.
Eonqulllo, Foster, and myself. , The second search was made in November,
1890, at which were present Leandro de Dios, who then president of
the ayuntamiento, E. N. Ronquillo, Foster, and myself. The second search
was made principally by myself, but I was assisted to a greatar or less ex-
tent by probably all who were present. The search was made at the in-
stanceotE. N. Ronquillo. Two copies, exactly alike, were found by me among
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the regular files of the archives of the ayuntamiento of Santa Barbara., in 8
package containing all other archives for the year 1834, and E. N. Ronquillo
took one of said duplicates away with him."
Leandro de Dios testifies:
"I am president of the ayuntamiento of Santa. Barbara. From January to

October, 1890, inclusive, I was a simple member of the ayuntamiento, and from
November, 1890, to the present time I have been president. In the month of
October, 1890, E. N. Ronquillo and Mr. Foster were here for the first time, and
then came again inNovember, 1890, who requested me to look amongour archives
here for an act of the congress of Chihuahua concerning a concession or grant
of land to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, and we made the search as requested. Inez
Franco was the secretary of the ayuntamiento at the time. E. N. Ronquillo
and Mr. Foster made the search. They found the concession made by the
congress of Chihuahua of the land to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, dated Septem-
ber 24, 1834, in the package in which were packed for preservation the
archives for the year 1834. It was the first time I had ever seen the act.
Inez Franco, the secretary of the ayuntamiento, assisted in the search for the
decree, with Messrs. Ronquillo and Foster, and it was Mr. Franco who found
the act."
By stipulatiO'Il of counsel it was agreed as follows:
"That the act or d.ecree of confirmation referred to in the depositions of

Inez Franco and Leandro de Dios was found as in said depositions related,
on the first search made for the same, referred to in said depositions as made
in the month of October. And that it shall be taken as if said witness had
so testified, and the fact herein stipulated is to be taken and admitted as part
of the evidence of this cause, as fully as if the witness Inez Franco and
Leandro de Dlos had so testified."
With regard to this stipulation, defendants' counsel claims that

it amounts to no more than an admission that said witnesses Franco
and De Dios would have testified that the document in question was
found at the first search, and not by any means an admission that
it was found at the first search. In this connection, however, we
note that by the testimony of Franco and De Dios, Mr. Foster, who
is known to be an intelligent lawyer in good standing at the bar in
EI Paso, assisted at both searches, and was present when the Santa
Barbara decree was found, and yet he was not called as a witness to
relate the circumstances attendant upon the finding of said decree.
The absence of his testimony cannot be explained by the fact that
he appears as one of the solicitors of record for the complainant in
this case, because solicitors on neither side have been backward in
testifying wherever their evidence was considered at all important.
Our conclusion with regard to this point is that, while the evidence
establishes that the Santa Barbara document was found at the
time and place asserted by complainant, yet the circUmstances at-
tending upon the finding are not calculated to raise or strengthen
any presumptions in favor of the genuineness of the document itself,
but rather the reverse.
The complainant filed in the circuit court, and by assignments of

error has renewed in this court, numerous motions to suppress evi-
dence. The record is not made up in such a way that these mo-
tions to suppress can be intelligently reviewed, and reasons given
for sustaining or denying the same, without great labor. The mo·
tions, however, may be summarized in three classes, as follows:
First. To suppress the depositions of Juan de Dios Vasquez and

v.61F.no.1-2
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.some 10 because. of irregularity in the commISSIon issued
by the derk of the circuit court, who is said in the motion to have
issued the commission in the name and by the authority of the
state of Texas. The commissions appear to have been issued un-
der a stipulation of counsel which, as it appears in the record, the
clerk of the· circuit court is not to be blamed for misunderstanding.
We consider the objection to be toa great extent technical, and
doubt very much whether, if good, it would render the commissions
· wholly void.. We are precluded, however, from ruling upon this

of motions to suppress, because the parties have not seen fit
to bring up in the record a single one of the commissions objected
.to for our examination.
Second. Motions to suppress, bas.ed .on alleged illegality and ir-

relevancy of interrogatories propounded by counsel for defendants;
and, irrelevantl incompetent, and illegal answers made by witnesses
respectively. This class of objections is not pressed in the complain-
ant's brief,nordiscussed for the defendants, and may be treated as
abandoned.
Third. Motions to suppress depoSitions, wholly or .in part, of de-

fendants' alleged expert 'Witnesses. Of this class of motions we are
disposed to think that they should be partly sustained and partly
overruled, but we make no ruling on the matter, not considering the
3ame necessary. We remark, however, that the question in hand
is not a question of handwriting. There is neither signature, rubric,
3ign, nor mark of any ink (other than print) upon the document f0!1nd
·.in the archives of Santa Barbara, and offered in this case as a
muniment of title. It is ,a printed paper throughout, claimed to
be an archive in the records in Santa Barbara., and from that fact
alone to be presumed t() have been issued by the governor, or rather
to be a true and genuine copy of a decree issued by the governor.
'1;hequestion in the caSe is one of, connecting the governor and

other state officials with the printed document. As is well said by
the counsel for the defendants: "It is a question of whether the

of Mexico can be invoked to connect a public official with
a printed document purporting to be his official act; and,·. if so,
whether similar archives of Mexico can be invoked to repel this pre-
sumption." In suits for the establishment of Mexican grants, the
supreme court holds that the Mexican archives are public documents
which the court has a right to consult, even if not made formal proof
· in the case., Bee U. S. v. Teschmaker, 22 How. 392; and see Luco
v. U. S., 23 Row. 515; Romero v. U. S., 1 Wall. 721. In cases of
this kind, if the court has the right to consult the public archives,
it follows from the fact that the court cannot go to the archives, nor
in many cases the archives be brought to the court, that the only
way the archives can be examined by the court is through intelli-
gent witnesses, who make such examination, and thereafter give
their evidence; and, if such evidence is permissible, we can see no
reason why it cannot be corroborated and illustrated and sustained
by officially certified copies, and, a fortiori, by duly-proved photo-
graphic copies. And further, we add that the bQ.rning question for
expert evidence in the case is as to the age of the printed paper pro-
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duced, and on that question experts in paper, printing, printer's ink,
and type would best meet the demands of the case.
To establish the genuineness of the printed copy of decree of con-

firmation found at Santa Barbara, the complainant filed with such
copy a, certificate of one J. Melchor de la Garza to the effect that
the decree was printed by him in the official printing office of the
state, of which printing office he was a director, and at the time ex-
pressed therein. The depositions of J. Melchor de la Garza were
afterwards obtained, first by the complainant, and then by the de-
fendants; and the pertinent part of said depositions is as follows:
"(3) What was your occupation III the years 1834 and 1835? Ans. The

management of the printing office of the state government for the printing
done there for the same." "(5) How were the acts of congress in Chihuahua
published and made official in 1833, 1834, and i835? Ans. The decrees and
resolutions of the congress in these years, as well as those of the previous
and subsequent years, were and are sent to the government, who sent them
to all the authorities of the state for compliance and observance with the
same, either printed or in manuscript. (6) State whether a printed paper
was shown you lately, purporting to be an act of congress of Chihuahua,
made in 1834, with reference to a grant to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, purporting
to confirm the same to him. Ans. It was shown to me by Mr. E. N. Ron-
quillo. (7) If you saw such a paper, where and when did you see it'! Ans. I
saw it at my house, and it was shown to me by Mr. Ronquillo several months
ago." "(9) If you know, you may state where it came from,-what archives.
Ans. I cannot say where it came from, but Mr. Ronquillo told me that he had
obtained it in the town of Santa Barbara. (10) State who printed the paper
or had it printed. Ans. I have already llaid that it belongs to a class of docu-
ments which were then, and are still, printed by order of the government;
and the one to which we now refer, judging by its date, must have been print-
ed by me, as manager of the printing office at that time." "(12) State what,
if anything, you know of the type it was printed with and the paper used.
Ans. I cannot say anything in respect to this." "(14) From your examination
of the paper, when do you say it was printed? Ans. The date of that paper
itself states it precisely. (15) From your examination of that paper, and
any fact you may know concerning it, do you say it is an original and genu-
ine and official act of the congress of Chihuahua, or a spurious or false or
forged copy? Ans. I cannot say or affirm anything in this respect." "Cross
IntclTogatory 3. If you say that said printed paper came from the archives
of Santa Barbara, state how you know that it came from said archives. Did
you see it among the archives? If so, when did you first see it there? And
when, and by whom, was it put there? 'Vere you present when a search
was made for it at Santa Barbara? And did you see it delivered to the per·
son who afterward showed it to you? Ans. I have never said that such
documents belong to the archives of Santa Barbara, a place which I do not
know; and I could not very well affirm that it existed among those ar-
chives, nor when it was extracted therefrom, or tor whom, nor to whom it
was delivered, or with what object. Mr. E. N. Ronquillo showed it to me,
stating that he had obtained it at that point, but without telling me who had
given it to him. Cross Int. 4. If you say that you compared said printed
paper with another printed paper, please attach to your answers the printed
paper with which you compared the paper that was shown to you, so that
we may see the resemblance; also please attach the paper that was shown
to you, or, if you cannot attach it, state why you cannot. Ans. I have alrendy
stated in ans\ver to interrogatory 18 that I cannot attach the original copy
asked for, because I have the same forming a book with other document&
of which I do not wish to deprive myself. I returned to Mr. Ronquillo the
document which he showed me, and I certified at the foot thereof that the
said document had been printed by me on account of my having acted liE
manager of the printing office at the time in which it was published and
circulated by the government to the authorities of the state, and for this rea·
son I eannot attach a document which is neither in my possession nor
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to me, hutto Mr. Ronquillo, who Is the person who should have It. But l·
attach hereto a photograph ot the daid document, which will be found marked
'Exhibit A..' ..

Second deposition:
"(2) It you are the same person whose depositions were taken In said cause,

please state whether or not you have in your possession a certain book con-
taining official documents, a decree printed by you in the year 1834. If yea,
Is there now, or was there at the time you gave your former deposition, any
executive decree No. 16, promulgating an act of congress of Chihuahua, con-
firming a grant of land to Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, or any document what-
ever, relating to saId grant in said book? Ans. Yes. He has the collection
of decrees referred to in the first part of the second question, but there is no
decree No. 16 in the same that refers to the concession of land made to Col.
Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo." "Now, please state if you intended to testify in
said answer that you had at that time any printed paper or document in
said book confirming the grant of Jose Ygnacio Ronqulllo, or having an:\, rela-
·don thereto. If not, explain fully what you intended to say in answer to
"aid interrogatory. Ans. I said, when answering the interrogatory 18, to
which reference is here made, I did not intend to signify that I had any
decree in my collection relative to the concession made to Col. Ronquillo, but
only that the decree which was presented to me by Lawyer Ronquillo seemed
to be the same type and of the same time that I was in charge of the gov-
ernment printing office." "cross Int. 5. When this paper was shown you at
the city of Chihuahua, some time previously to the taking of your testimony,
did you not at that time then and there say to E. N. Ronquillo that upon com-
parison of this paper with another like it that you thought it was genUine,
and. that it had been printed by you in 1834, and that you were willing to
certify to the· same, and did you not then and there take this paper, and write
in your handwriting upon it the words included in cross interrogatory No.4?
Ans. I only certified that the decree presented by Mr. RonquillO' was like the
type and bore the same date as the ones I have in my collection of the same
time,"

This evidence falls far short of establishing the fact that De la
Garza, as official printer, printed in the government printing office,
state of Chihuahua, in the year 1834, the copy of the alleged decree
of the congress of Chihuahua confirming the Ronquillo grant. The
evidence is worth, at most, that of a more or less qualified expert
whO gives an opinion that the copy presented by the complainant
is genuine. .
The testimony of expert witnesses offered by the complainant

to sustain the genuineness of the document found in Santa Barbara,
taken with that of the expert witnesses offered by the defendants
and not attacked by the complainant in his motion to suppress, as
a whole, is of such a character, and so conflicting, that the non-
expert, after reading and considering it, cannot intelligently say on
which side the truth lies. Certain it is, the preponderance is not
in favor of the complainant.
On September 24,1834, the date on which it is alleged the decree

of confirmation of the Bonquillo grant was passed by the congress
of Chihuahua, the state of Chihuahua was divided into 11 partidos,
of which the partido of Parral included the mining district of Santa
Barbara. The president of the ayuntamiento of the chief town in the
district was the political chief, and, with the ayuntamiento, admin-
istered the government of each pueblo or municipality in the dis-
trict; and it was alone through them that all communications'were
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made, and all orders and decrees sent by the governor to the presi·
dent of each municipality in the district. The ayuntamientos were
required to keep a register of all deeds of land, either public or
private, in their districts, and were required to make and keep an
exact inventory of all the public archives in their respective places
or towns. The laws and decrees of congress, when printed and
signed bN' the governor and secretary of state, were sent to the po·
litical chief of the district, who was required to distribute them to
his own ayuntamiento, and to the several towns and municipalities
in his district, and to take receipts for all decrees distributed by
him. See Laws of Congress, State of Chihuahua, January 5, 1826.
All decrees, therefore, that were sent to Santa Barbara in 1834
should have been, and probably were, sent through the political
chief of the partido of Parral, and the same decrees should be also
found in the archives of Parral when found anywhere in the
district, and the receipts for such decrees should also be found at
Parral, and the inventory and registry of both Parral and Santa
Barbara should show that any decree properly found in the archives
at either place had been duly filed, and the date thereof. Evidence
of this character in relation to the decree in question is entirely
wanting in this record.
Complainant's case, then, as to the genuineness of the printed copy

of the decree of confirmation of the Ronquillo grant found in Santa
Barbara in 1890, depends entirely upon the document itself, and the
place where found. It is not aided by the circumstances attendant
upon the finding; nor by the testimony and certificate of Melchor de
la Garza, the alleged printer; nor by the weight of opinion on the
part of competent experts; nor by evidence that the existence of
such a document was, or ever had been, of record elsewhere, or was
known by interested parties, or had ever been the basis of transac-
tions between parties in relation to the Ronquillo grant; nor by evi·
dence tending to show that the congress of Chihuahua ever passed,
or considered even, any decree relative to said grant; nor by evidence
showing that any genuine decree of confirmation was ever in any of
the public archives in Mexico. Suspicion and doubt attach to the
case, because a duly·authenticated copy is nowhere found, and seems
never to have been heard of. No similar copies of such decree of con-
firmation are found in the public archives or elsewhere. No such
decree of confirmation was claimed or asserted by anybody prior to
the institution of this suit. It is a conceded fact that the public
archives in Juarez, Mexico, were invaded in the interest of the claim
now asserted, and a false and forged decree placed in the archives in
such a manner as to obtain full credit, so far as forming a part of the
public archives is concerned. The document if; irregularly, if not
falsely, numbered, the alleged number 16 belonging to a genuine de·
cree of the same day, month and year; and the confirmation of the
Ronquillo grant by the congress of Chihuahua involved a violation
of the state and national policy in regard to the disposing of publie
lands as declared in the colonization laws of 1824, 1825, and 1828. In
view of all of which the learned judge of the court a quo, in his opin·
ion dismissing the complainant's bill, said:
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"Considering the circumsJ;ances of this case, and the contlic! of opinIon
between experts, and my own examInation of these papers, I am thoroughly

•. satisfied that the Sil.nta Barbara decree is a forgery. I can draw no other
conclusion consistent with the facts and circumstances of this case."

If the genuineness of the document in question is admitted so far
as fabrication, and place of deposit are concerned, still it is only
secondary and circumstantial evidence, and, in the absence. of other
proof tending to show that the congress of Chihuahua in the year
1834 took some action 'in regard to the Ronquillo grant, is of not suffi·
cient value and authenticity to establish the alleged decree of con·
firmation, when taken in connection with the established fact that
for than 50 years no claim of title by and under such decree was
asserted by any of the persons under whom the complainant claims
title. See U. S. v. Oastro, 24 How. 346; Romero v. U. S., 1 Wall. 721;
Pico V,. U. S., 2 Wall. 279..The printed paper produced, although it
may be a genuine circular letter distributed for information, is not
authentic, does not import verity, does not prove itself, and never was
intended,.linauthenticated, to make proof. 1\. congressional decree
confirming a doubtful grant is a law as well as a grant, and should
be Pl'Qmulgated and proved as other laws. The constitution of the
state of Chihuahua of 1825, tit. 7, art. 45 (translated), is as follows:
"The governor shall publIsh the law under this formula: 'N. of the governor

of the state of Chihuahua to all of its inhabitants. now ye, that the con-
gress of saId state has decreed the following: [Here a literal copy of the
law], to the end that he command it to be prInted, published, promulgated
and executed in all of its parts. [The date, the name and signature of the
governor and secretary of state].' "

Article 46 (translated) is as follows:
"Article 46. The governorwUl circulate the laws authenticated by the sec-

retary of state, without which requisite they shall not be obeyed."

And article 74, tit. 13, of the same constitution, is as follows:
"The decrees, resolutions aDd ordinances of the governor shall be issued,·

signed by. the secretary of state, without which reqUisite they shall not be
obeyed."
The act of the congress ofOhihuahlla of the 18th of February, 1826,

(arts. 35, 36, and 37), prescribing the duties "Del Secretario del Des·
patcho/, provides as follows:
"Art. 85. The secretary shall be the first chief of his office. Art. 86. He

shall autbenticate with his full signature all those proceedings that are signed
by the governor, and shall use his signature when the governor shall do the
same. Art. 87. He shall authenticate all copies which emanate from the
office of secretary in his charge."
From these specific provisions as to prorilUlgation of laws and de·

crees it would seem that proof of congressional decrees, as well as of
decrees, resolutions, and ordinances of the governor, could and should
be taken as proved only when properly signed and attested with
name and signature (evidently by hand) of the governor and secre-
tary of state.
Our impress'ion of the complainant's case, after patient and care·

ful investigation of some 1,900 printed pages of record and abstracts,
with the aid of 566 pages of printed brief and three days of oral argu·
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ment by very able and experienced solicitors, is substantially as fol·
lows:
In 1832-33, Don Jose Ygnacio Ronquillo, lieutenant colonel, was

an active and enterprising officer in command of the frontier of the
upper Rio Grande, at which time, probably, and on the ground of
military services, he applied for a land grant. It is probable that
several, and perhaps all, of the preliminary steps were taken to
secure to him such a grant, and it is more than probable that Cesario
Herrera, about that time alcalde of the town of Presidio del Norte,
had knowledge of Ronquillo's application, and perhaps, as alcalde,
was called on to aid in some of the preliminary steps; but the trou:
bled condition of the border, with the departure and subsequent
death of Col. Ronquillo, in 1834, resulted in the abandonment of the
proceedings, and in the abandonment of the grant. Matters re-
mained in this shape some 16 years,-until after the close of the war
between the United States and Mexico, resulting in the acknowledg·
ment of the title of the state of Texas to all that part of the state of
Chihuahua lying north of the Rio Grande,-when the enterprising
Ben Leaton appeared upon the scene, became acquainted with Cesa·
rio Herrera, former alcalde, and between them the Ronquillo grant
was resurrected, and located on an immense territory in western
Texas.. A testimonio was concocted, with such transfers as would
permit Leaton to assert title, and a persistent effort was made 1;>y
Leaton to secure and record a recognition of the Ronquillo grant.
It was then that the record in San Antonio was obtained, the sur-
vey by Howard was made, and the map, hereinbefore referred to,
marked "Ben Leaton's Claim," deposited in the land office of the
state of Texas. The efforts of Leaton and his agents were kept up
until 1854-55, notwithstanding the arrest of Cesario Herrera, for-
merly alcalde, on the charge of manufacturing false titles, about
which time Ben Leaton d'ied. Again there was an abandonment and
a period of quiet with regard to claimants under the Ronquillo grant
until about 1887-88, when, western Texas land becoming more valua·
ble,-important silver and other mines being discovered and de-
veloped,-the Ronquillo grant was again resurrected, and put for-
ward as a genuine claim for the immense tract involved. The value
of the property in question with the chances presented to speculative
lawyers and other parties naturally inspired the most pertinacious
and industrious efforts to prove up the claim. One great value of the
property being in its silver mines, and, silver mines not passing by
ordinary land grants under the government of Mexico, it was neces·
sary to show title dIrect from the sovereign, which would convey the
minerals. Such title could only be secured by a decree of the con·
gress of the state,-a matter that it seems Cesario Herrera and Ben
Leaton had overlooked in preparing the testimonio and transfers,-
and therefore was concocted the admitted forged decree placed in
the archives of Juarez, forming the original basis of complainant's
suit, but purporting to be signed in writing, with rubrics attached,
by the governor and secretary of state, and afterwards (again profit-
ing by experience) was found the Santa Barbara copy, wholly in
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print, with po tale-telling signatures or rubrics; both of which alleged
decr;.ees convey full title to all the minerals found in the tract.
It "is. proper to say that, in sofaI' as this record goes, the present

complainant,Mr. Owen, 'is to be acquitted of all knowledge of or com·
plicity in the matter of all doubtful efforts and transactions entered
into to establish the validity of the Ronquillo grant. His good faith
is apparent, and it is to be regretted that his persistent efforts to
maintain his case, with his very able, candid, and industrious expo-
sition of the same, cannot be rewarded.
In our ,opinion, the decree of the circuit court dismissing the com-

plainant's bill was correct, and should be affirmed, with costs; and it
is so ordered.

COE et al. v. AIKEN et at
(CircuIt Court, D. New Hampshire. August 26, 1893.)

No. 228.
1. EMINENT DOMAIN-CONTRACT-EsTOPPEL.

A party asking relief against a railway company upon a contract which
necessarily assumes a rigbt of eminent domain in the latter cannot, in the
same suit,. cqmplain of' an additional takIng of lands, on the ground that
the company is not ofa kind to be Invested with such right.

2. SAME-FRAUDULENT LoCATION-SETTING ASIDE.
A court of equity cannot set aside an adjudication of a proper trIbunal

determIning and 10catiI1g the quantity of lands required for a public use
merely because the parties who brought about the adjudication had a
fraudulent ,or illegal Intent; but it must appear that the tribunal itself
proceeded fraUdulently, or in excess of its powers,or that it committed a
gross mistake, or was Imposed upon by fraudulent methods.

8. SAME-EXTENT OF LOCA'l.'ION-EQUITY JURISDICTION.
A court of equity has power to determine whether the amount of land

taken is needed for publlc use, but in this respect the courts are liberal
towards the party exercising the right, as the owner Is protected by the ra-
quirementfor compensatIon; and every reasonable intendment will be
made In favor of the adjUdication of the tribunal awarding the lands.

, 4. SAME----,UNCERTAINTY OF LoCATION.
A location of lands taken for publlc use cannot stand If It is uncertain

in law; but that it Is unce:r:tain in fact, so as to reqUire a resort to the
courts for settlement of its boundaries, does not render it uncertain in
law, for il'l law that Is certain which can be made certain.

5. CONTRACT----,CONSTRUCTION-LEASE.
The owners of a mountain summit leased a portion thereof to a tourIsts'

railroad company for five years, with the privilege of erecting an hotel and
other buildIngs thereon. At the termination of the lease, the lessors were
to have the right to purchase whatever buildings were on the premIses,
whether wIthin or without the limits of the railroad right of WRY, "ex-
cepting such parts of sald buildings and improvements within said limits
as may be required by said second party for the proper and convenient
use of its road, .and for Its engines, cars, and repaIrs." A hotel and other
buildings were accordingly erected, partly within and partly without the
railroad location. The lease was twice renewed, and after the expiration
of the last term, and before any adjustment was reached, the railroad
company made an addItional location, whIch was claimed to include the
hotel and most of the other buUdings. Held, that the question whether or
not the buildings were required for railroad purposes was to be determined
by the condition of things at the termination of the lease; that, reading
the contract as a whole, the lessors were not to take any buildings re-


